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Summary 

An archaeological watching brief was conducted during the excavation of service trenches 

during the construction of a new building at 31 Bootham, York. Layers of made ground were 

encountered and fragments from the previous buildings on site were revealed, however, no 

archaeological features or finds were recorded. 
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1 Introduction 

Archaeological Services WYAS (ASWYAS) was commissioned by Ingenta Aspire Ltd to 
undertake an archaeological watching brief at 31 Bootham, York. The watching brief was 
undertaken during part of the groundworks phase of the redevelopment of the site, and has 
been carried out to a specification produced by John Oxley, the York City Council Principal 
Archaeologist (Oxley 2008). The watching brief was undertaken on the 12th August 2008, 
the 5th, 12th, 25th  February and 3rd of March 2009. 

Site location and topography 

The site is situated at the corner of Bootham and Bootham Row, on the site of the former 
Charlie Brown Garage, to the immediate north-west of the historic centre of York, centred at 
SE 6005 5234 (Figs 1 and 2). The site consisted of a late 20th-century garage, set back from 
Bootham by a tarmac forecourt, with a large shed to the rear and a number of 19th-century 
buildings which front onto Bootham Row.  

Soils, geology and land-use 

The underlying geology comprises Permian and Triassic Sandstone (British Geological 
Survey 2001). Bootham itself lies on a ridge of moraine and the natural ground level slopes 
down to the north. The soils are within an unmapped urban area (Soil Survey of England and 
Wales 1983). 

 

2 Archaeological and Historical Background 

The following archaeological and historical background has been taken from the desk-based 
assessment of the site produced by ASWYAS (Pollington and Grassam 2008). 

Prehistoric periods  

There is evidence for Prehistoric activity across the Vale of York from the Mesolithic 
onwards (Whyman and Howard 2005), although evidence for prehistoric settlement within 
York is limited. Recent excavations close to the confluence of the Rivers Ouse and Foss have 
produced Neolithic and Bronze Age lithic material (Spall and Toop 2005). A Bronze Age 
beaker, possibly from a burial was apparently discovered on an unknown site on Bootham in 
1840 (Hall 1996), but apart from that there is no other evidence for prehistoric activity within 
the immediate surrounding area.   

Roman period (AD 43 – c. AD 410) 

The first Roman fort in York was constructed on the north-eastern side of the River Ouse in 
about AD 71 (Ottaway 2004) and was centred on the principia, or legionary headquarters, 
which was situated where York Minster now stands, to the east of the site. Part of the wall of 
the fort was identified directly under the modern pavement in Exhibition Square during a 
watching brief in 1987, and the western gate of the fort, the Porta Principalis Dextra, was 
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shown to be on the site of the medieval Bootham Bar, just east of the development site, 
during excavations in the 1970s (YAT 1976). An annexe of the fort may also have existed to 
the south of the site, in the area of St Mary’s Abbey and Exhibition Square, where the 
remains of a concrete and limestone foundation, and part of Roman street were discovered in 
the 1920s (RCHME 1962, 45-47).  

Two main routes ran through the fort; the via Praetoria, aligned south-west to north-east, the 
route of which is preserved by Stonegate, and the via Pricipalis aligned south-east to north-
west which ran broadly along the line of Petergate. The via Principalis led out of the western 
side of the fortress through the Porta Principalis Dextra along the line now followed by 
Bootham. The probable surface of the Roman road has been identified during archaeological 
watching briefs along Bootham on a number of sites since the 1970s (YAT 1979; YAT 1987; 
YAT 1991; YAT 1992). It is also reported that in 1893 part of the Roman road surface was 
revealed in front of Wandesford’s Hospital, which was situated to the north-west of the site 
(RCHME 1962, 3; Raine 1955, 261).  

It is likely that some form of civilian settlement developed outside of the fort from an early 
date (RCHME 1962), and archaeological investigations at sites in Gillygate, which have 
included large quantities of Roman pottery and evidence of a timber building, suggest that the 
area around the site was occupied during this period (YAT 1975; YAT 1972; YAT 1992b). 
Extensive Roman deposits have also been identified during excavations at the rear of 26-28 
Marygate, these included the remains of a large linear feature, which was overlain by a later 
structure, both of 3rd century date (YAT 1992c). Pottery of a 2nd century date has also been 
discovered at a site on Bootham (YAT 1987).  

There is evidence for a number of cemeteries along the line of the Roman road in the 
Bootham area, containing both inhumations and cremations, and excavations near Marygate 
identified a number of 4th-century burials, which may have formed a small family cemetery 
(YAT 1992b). Two burials of probable Roman date were also apparently uncovered in 
Bootham in 1851, and another group of graves was found during the construction of the 
railway line to the immediate west of the development site in 1865 (FAS 2006b, 4).   

The Post-Roman and Anglo-Saxon periods 

The nature of occupation in York during the immediate post-Roman period is not clear, 
although it does seem likely that some form of settlement continued into the 5th century. By 
the 7th century York fell within the kingdom of Deira, which formed the southern part of 
Northumbria, and emerged as an important centre of ecclesiastical power; its importance is 
attested by it being the location for the baptism of the Northumbrian king Edwin in AD 627 
(Hall 2003). York fell under Viking control in 866, and developed as an important trading and 
commercial centre, with the settlement concentrated to the south-east of the Roman fortress, 
between the River Ouse and the River Foss.  
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There is limited archaeological evidence of post-Roman or Anglo-Saxon period occupation in 
the immediate area around Bootham. Excavations in Gillygate have produced a sherd of 
Anglo-Saxon period pottery, and a sceat coin dating to about AD 705-15, which may indicate 
some form of activity here at this time (YAT 1972). A 9th-century coin hoard has also been 
found close to the line of the fort walls (FAS 2006b, 5). There is no definite structural 
evidence for this period in the Bootham area, and it has been suggested that by the 9th 
century the land to the west of the former Roman fort had been cleared (Tweddle et al. 1999, 
202).  

The area of the later St Mary’s Abbey may have been the site of an Anglo-Saxon royal 
residence, and a number of Anglo-Saxon and Anglo-Scandinavian finds have been discovered 
in the area (Andrews 1984). St Olaf’s Church, on the western side of the abbey precinct, was 
built by Earl Siward prior to his death in 1055, but it has been suggested that this may have 
replaced an earlier chapel which served an adjoining residence for the kings of Northumbria 
(Hall 1994, 5).  

Medieval Period 

The name ‘Bootham’ is first recorded in charters of the mid-12th century as ‘Bouthum’, 
although it may derive from the Old Norse búðum, meaning ‘at the booths’ (Mawer and 
Stenton 1970, 283). It has previously been suggested that this may refer to the booths set up 
for a fair held by St Mary’s Abbey in Bootham from about 1318 (Drake 1736), although the 
name’s Old Norse derivation, suggests that it may refer to an earlier market or some form of 
trading activity, or possibly simply huts or cattle sheds for holding animals outside the city 
walls (Raine 1955).  

It is likely that the Bootham area began to develop during the later medieval period, and 13th 
and early 14th-century documents refer to small tenements and gardens in the area by this 
time. The presence of St Mary’s Abbey, which was founded on land to the south of Bootham 
in 1089, would have restricted development to the north side of the road, and it is likely that 
the earliest medieval development would have been close to the city walls, at the eastern end 
of Bootham.  

Archaeological evidence for medieval activity within the site was identified during a limited 
evaluation undertaken in 2006. Medieval deposits and finds were identified in three 2m by 
2m trenches, the earliest of which were dated to the late 14th and 15th century, with residual 
pottery of an 11th to 13th century date (FAS 2006b). A number of other sites in the area have 
also produced medieval features, deposits and pottery assemblages (YAT 1992c; OSA 2001; 
YAT 1993; YAT 1972; YAT, 1975;YAT 1992b).   

 

Post-Medieval and Modern Periods 

By the 16th century the suburb along Bootham appears to have been well established. A map 
of York, dating to about 1545, appears to show houses along the northern side of Bootham 
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(Anon. c.1545), and John Speed’s map of about 1610 shows houses continuing past Marygate 
and up to the position of the present Bootham School (Speed c. 1610). Although it is likely 
that many of the properties on Bootham were damaged during the Civil War, Archer’s map of 
1680 and Jacob Richard’s map of 1685 show the buildings on Bootham covering much the 
same area as Speed depicted them, with the northern side of Bootham and the eastern side of 
Gillygate containing a continuous row of buildings, but with only a couple of buildings 
marked on the western side of Gillygate (Archer c.1680; Richard c.1685). A number of 
existing buildings on Bootham have their origins in the late-17th century or earlier, and 17th-
century brickwork has been identified on the site (FAS 2006a). 

From the early 18th century Bootham began to develop as a fashionable Georgian suburb and 
many of the existing houses along the street were constructed, or renovated, at this time.  In 
1739 the ‘Old Maid’s Hospital’, (or Wandesford Hospital) was constructed to the north-west 
of the site, and at the end of the 18th century the Exhibition Hotel was constructed to the 
south-east. Despite the new buildings, the maps of 1722, 1736 and 1750 show occupation 
restricted largely to the street frontage, with gardens plots to the rear (Pollington and Grassam 
2008; Cossins 1722; Drake 1736; Chassereau 1750). 

Bootham Row, which runs along the south-eastern side of the site, appears to have been laid 
out between the late 18th century and 1822, when it is first marked on Edward Baines’ plan 
of York (Baines 1822). This is also the first map to show the layout of the individual 
buildings on the site in any detail. At this time the eastern side of the site, along Bootham 
Row, was occupied by a narrow range of buildings, with an alleyway to their west leading 
from Bootham to a rear yard containing a number of smaller buildings. The south-western 
part of the site was occupied by another building, which may have been a precursor to The 
Black Horse Inn (Baines 1822; Ordnance Survey 1852). By the mid-19th century The Black 
Horse Inn occupied much of the Bootham frontage of the site, with an adjacent smithy on the 
corner of Bootham and Bootham Row, and a number of buildings fronting onto Bootham 
Row to the rear of these. The northern and north-western side of the site remained an open 
yard at this time, perhaps providing facilities for stabling horses, associated with the inn. By 
the 1890s The Black Horse Inn had been demolished and the area remained open at least into 
the 1930s, although the building that had been the smithy survived up to this time, and the 
row of buildings fronting onto Bootham Row are still extant.  

 

3 Aims  

The aim of the watching brief was set out in the archaeological scheme of investigation 
(Oxley 2008), the stated aims were to establish the date and character of any archaeological 
deposits disturbed by the development area, should they have existed and report on the 
findings. 
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4 Methodology 

An archaeological presence was maintained during the excavation of the service trenches, lift 
shaft and the removal of storage tanks associated with the garage. The excavation of the 
service trenches was under taken by a 10 tonne 360º tracked machine fitted with a toothless 
bucket 0.60m wide. The service trenches were excavated down to maximum depth of 1.10m 
below the concrete ring beam (13.60m AOD), with the main stretches of the service trenches 
excavated down to a depth of 0.90m (between 13.80m and 14.10m AOD).  

Appropriate written, drawn and photographic records were made in accordance with 
ASWYAS watching brief guidelines and site recording manual (ASWYAS 2003, 2006) and 
all appropriate professional standards and guidance (English Heritage 1991, IfA 2008). The 
contents of the primary archive are listed in Appendix 1 and a concordance of contexts is 
listed in Appendix 2. 

 

5 Results 

The service trenches were composed of two parallel trenches running north-east to south-
west. The trenches were located both on the north-eastern side and the south-western side of 
the development area (Fig. 2; Plate 1 and 2). Radiating from the main service trenches were 
short spurs of pipe which ran from the ground surface down to the depth of the main pipe. In 
addition to the two main stretches of the service trench was a nexus of pipes in the northern 
area which tied together all the pipes. 

The northern 22.50m of the new build area had been leveled to a height of 14.70m AOD, the 
same height as the newly inserted ring beam. The remainder of the site had been leveled to 
15.00m AOD, with the ring beam also at this height. 

Across the site two made ground deposits were consistently encountered. The upper made 
ground deposit (1003) consisted of a light coloured brick building rubble, a product of the 
demolition of the previous buildings on site, this was between 0.30- 0.10m in depth. This in 
turn overlay a black silty clay deposit (1004) which was 0.80 – 0.70m in depth. This lower 
deposit contained large amounts of brick, modern building materials as well as modern 
pottery. This deposit would appear to be a made ground deposit into which the previous 
building had been built upon. The deposit was heavily mixed suggesting that it had been 
disturbed. Within this deposit large concrete blocks and old service and sewer pipes were 
visible, again assumed to be part of the previous buildings. No deeper deposit was 
encountered and, no archaeological features or finds were recorded. 
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6 Discussion and Conclusions 

The monitoring of the service trenches within the development area of 31 Bootham, York did 
not reveal any archaeological features or finds. Across the site two made ground deposits 
were consistently encountered. These made ground deposits could have been a product of the 
construction on site of the Charlie Brown Garage during the late 20th century. The deposits 
encountered correspond with the reported findings of the FAS evaluation (2006b) and 
confirm that the archaeological deposits are not located in the upper metre of deposits, but 
would appear to be confined to a depth in excess of 1m. 

The excavation of the service trenches and ring beam slots did not penetrate deep enough to 
disturb or encounter any archaeological deposits. The late 20th century construction work 
would appear to have removed and levelled all archaeological deposits.



Reproduced with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown 

Copyright. Archaeological Services WYAS: licence LA076406, 2009.
Fig. 1.  Site location
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Plate 1.  Excavations of south-eastern service trench running from Bootham to the 
north-east 

 

 

Plate 2.  Deepest portion of south-eastern service trench, looking south-west 
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Appendix 1: Inventory of primary archive 

Phase File/Box No Description Quantity 

Watching 
Brief 

1 Context register 1 

  Context cards 1000-1004 5 

  Drawing register 1 

  Drawing sheet number record 1 

  Photograph record sheet for black and white film no. 3503 1 

  Black and white film no. 3503 and contact sheets 1 

  Digital photographic record sheets 3 

  Sheets of peratrace 4 

  Level sheet 1 

  Watching brief daily Monitoring forms 4 

  Trench record sheets 2 

  Archaeological scheme of investigation 1 

  Site plan 1 

  Copy of ASWYAS desk based assessment  1 

 

 

Appendix 2: Concordance of contexts yielding artefacts or environmental 
remains 

Context Description 

1000 Layer of reinforce concrete, part of floor surface of forecourt 0.10m thick. 

1001 Made ground deposits. Dark grey brown clayey sand containing large chunks of brick 
and mortar fragments, 0.33m thick.  

1002 Yellowish white sandy material, dump of material within made ground deposits. 

1003 Made ground deposit. Light brownish grey clayey sand with frequent brick fragment 
inclusions and building rubble, 0.10-0.30m deep.  

1004 Made ground deposit. Dark blackish grey silty clay with moderate flecks of charcoal and 
occasional brick fragments 0.80-0.70m in depth. 
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Appendix 3: Archaeological Scheme of Investigation: Excavation and 
Watching Brief 
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